Filed 08-25-2021

FILED 08-25-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS

### DISTRICT III

Case No. 2021AP000431-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GRAHAM L. STOWE,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from an Order Denying Conditional Release and Order Denying Postdisposition Relief, Entered in the Brown County Circuit Court, the Honorable Kendall M. Kelley Presiding

# BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

COLLEEN MARION Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 108908

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-3440 marionc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#

### ISSUE PRESENTED

In April 2019, Mr. Stowe petitioned the circuit court for conditional release from Mendota Mental Health Institute, where he is confined on an NGI commitment. At the outset of the conditional release hearing and before receiving any evidence, the court repeatedly stated that it did not believe Mr. Stowe had made enough progress to be released and encouraged Mr. Stowe to withdraw his petition. The issue presented is:

Whether the circuit court's comments would cause an objective, reasonable observer to believe that the court prejudged Mr. Stowe's petition for conditional release.

The circuit court answered no.

This Court should answer yes and reverse and remand for a new hearing before a different judge.

# POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither oral argument nor publication is requested. The appeal can be decided by application of well-established law to the facts of the case.

Filed 08-25-2021

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

"[C]ommitment for any purpose constitutes a significant deprivation of liberty that requires due process protection." Jones v. United States, 463 U.S. 354, 361 (1983) (internal quotation omitted). A State cannot confine a person in a mental institution unless it proves by clear and convincing evidence that person currently meets the conditions for commitment. Foucha v. Louisiana, 504 U.S. 71, 77-78 (1992).

To afford Due Process, the Wisconsin Legislature has created a statutory scheme that provides individuals the right to petition the circuit court for conditional release at regular, six-month intervals. Wis. Stat. §971.17(4)(a). The court "shall" grant the petition unless the State proves by clear and convincing evidence that the person poses too great a risk. Wis. Stat. § 971.17(4)(d).

An individual also has a Due Process right to an impartial tribunal, and this right includes a protection against prejudgment. State v. Goodson, 2009 WI App 107, ¶8, 320 Wis. 2d 166, 771 N.W.2d. Here, the court's comments at the outset of Mr. Stowe's hearing would cause an objective, reasonable observer to believe that the court prejudged his petition before hearing the evidence and before holding the State to its burden of proof. Mr. Stowe's request for relief is narrow. He simply requests a new conditional release hearing before a different judge.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Due Process is guaranteed by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments. U.S. Const. amend. V; amend. XIV, § 1.

Filed 08-25-2021

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In 2005, Mr. Stowe was found NGI after the State stipulated and the court agreed that, due to mental disease or defect, he was not responsible for his criminal conduct. See Wis. Stat.  $971.15(1)^{2}$ Mr. Stowe was "delusional and hallucinating" during the offenses. R.43:4.3 The Brown County Circuit Court, the Honorable Kendall M. Kelley presiding, entered an order committing Mr. Stowe to the Department of Health and Family Services for thirtynine-and-a-half years. R.47. The court placed Mr. Stowe at Mendota Mental Health Institute. R.48:1.

On April 24, 2019, Mr. Stowe filed a petition for conditional release. See Wis. Stat. § 971.17(4)(a). The court appointed Dr. William Schmitt to examine him. R.407. See Wis. Stat. § 971.17(4)(c). Dr. Schmitt filed his report on May 31, 2019. R.425. On June 24, 2009, and continuing to the following day, the court held a conditional release hearing. R.543, 544; App.3-64, 65-112. See Wis. Stat. § 971.17(4)(d). In a

Under this provision, "A person is not responsible for criminal conduct if at the time of such conduct as a result of mental disease or defect the person lacked substantial capacity either to appreciate the wrongfulness of his or her conduct or conform his or her conduct to the requirements of law." Wis. Stat. § 971.15(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The charges were first-degree reckless endangerment, felony intimidation of a victim, false imprisonment (three counts), and bail jumping. R.43:4. The facts of the offense are not relevant to this appeal.

Page 8 of 22

conditional release proceeding, the court "shall grant the petition" unless the State meets its burden to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the person poses a significant risk to self, others, or property if released. Id.

At the outset of the conditional release hearing, the court advised Mr. Stowe that based on the examiner's report it did not believe Mr. Stowe had made sufficient progress to be released. In support, the court also referenced this Court's recent decision affirming the denial of Mr. Stowe's prior petition. The court stated:

> But I wanted to invite you to consider the possibility that if you wish to wait to have counsel and continue to progress in the treatment that you're in, on this same petition, there's a possibility that that would work to your advantage.

> One of the disadvantages you have now is that some of these changes -- you read the report. You've made good progress, but you haven't had enough time to really get the full benefit of that, or to at least be able to convey that benefit. And so in that sense time would likely be - - if you continue to make the same kind of progress, time would definitely be on your side there.

> I think that, in fact, I would - - just recently received another Court of Appeals decision, and it struck me at the time that I thought that those were I hope for you very valuable. The Court of Appeals review[sic] the work that I do; it is a really important function of what we do. If I make

a mistake, they correct it. That's their job, and that give[sic] me confidence.

R.543:6; App.8. The court continued that, "I just offer the possible observation to you that -- that time, especially if you can continue with some of the treatment that you're in now . . . might be beneficial for you." R.543:7; App.9.

The court acknowledged that there would be additional testimony if the hearing proceeded but the "gist of it is you've made some progress, but, you know, it's a little early to be able to see what that's going to do for you." R.543:7; App.9. The court noted that "we've been at this for awhile [sic]" and suggested, "if you had more time and perhaps even more information about the benefits of the personal counseling and so forth I could see that that would likely accrue to your benefit, from my perspective." R.543:9-10; App.11-12.

The court further noted that Mr. Stowe had returned to his Catholic faith. The court offered a "candid" thought that incarcerated persons will sometimes claim to have had a spiritual awakening but "it's pretty short-lived for them." R:543:10-11: App. 12-13. The court said it was "interested in trying to determine if there's a way to quantify that benefit for you" and suggested that, "a priest or some other person" could testify about "any observations" about Mr. Stowe's sincerity. R.543:12-13; App.14-15. To "be a bit more blunt here," the court suggested that if Mr. Stowe "were to have more time" to bring in another witness to "quantify" it, "that would be

helpful." R.543:13-14; App.15-16. The court also noted that Mr. Stowe intended to represent himself, and cautioned him that an attorney could say the exact same things but have more of an effect because it would not sound "self-serving or anything else." R.543:14; App.16. In addition, in the court's opinion, an attorney would be more "accurate." R.543:5; App.7.

While acknowledging that "you're an adult and you can make that decision," the court offered that Mr. Stowe should consider not going forward and instead "come back for review" at a later time. R.543:15; App.17. The court noted that the case had been going on a long time and the court had denied Mr. Stowe release numerous times. As such, it might seem "as though that's personal or something like that. It's really not intended to be." R.543:16; App.18. Ultimately, the court asked Mr. Stowe whether he wanted to get started with the hearing and Mr. Stowe said yes. R.543:16; App.18. The court offered one last time that "to be, again, very candid, I think there are some more positive things that have occurred. I don't know if they've matured yet. But we have been doing this for awhile," but "we'll see." R.543:17; App.19.

The evidentiary portion of the hearing is not relevant to this appeal. After the close of evidence, the parties made arguments. The State argued that the petition should be denied. R.544.17-22 App.19-24. Mr. Stowe, of course, argued in support of his release. R.544:22-28; App.24-30.

The court began its ruling by stating that it had "[m]ade a number of remarks at the outset and the court stands by those, that's why I made them." R.544:28; App.92. The court explained its conclusion that Mr. Stowe should not be released, which it summed up by stating, "I still believe, based on his testimony, based on all of the records that have been here that there remains clear and convincing evidence" that Mr. Stowe was a significant risk of harm to himself or others. R.544:38; App.102. The court then returned to the topic of Mr. Stowe's religious beliefs stating, "you would need to. . . find some resource that might have a way of helping to describe your progress in that setting . . . in a tangible way." R.544:40; App.104. The court suggested that, for future petitions, Mr. Stowe should give the court "additional information," including about "the faith issues." R.544:43; App.107.

A written order denying Mr. Stowe's petition was entered on August 6, 2019. R.433; App.113.

Mr. Stowe filed a motion for postdisposition relief. R.492. As relevant here, he argued that the court's remarks would suggest to a reasonable observer that the court prejudged his petition before the conditional release hearing.<sup>4</sup> The State filed a response to the motion on November 6, 2020. The State acknowledged that it would have been "better practice for the Court to reserve comments about the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Mr. Stowe does not renew on appeal the other claims raised in his motion.

Filed 08-25-2021

defendant's religious experience or his progress in treatment until after hearing the testimony," but argued that the court's comments did not rise to objective bias. R.507:4.

By written decision and order, the circuit court denied the motion. R.510; App.114-127. The court subjectively biased denied that it was Mr. Stowe. R.510:9; App.122.<sup>5</sup> In addition, the court concluded that Mr. Stowe misinterpreted its colloquy regarding self-representation and remarks about the history of the case. R.510:4-5; App.117-118. The court stated:

> Just as identifying for Stowe the significance of the history of the case as it regards the pending Petition does not reflect bias or prejudgment, directing the attention of a defendant to the risks and potential pitfalls associated with selfrepresentation (particularly when, historically, Stowe had repeatedly asserted that the process was unjust), does not betray some pre-conceived notion on the part of the Court as to the outcome of the proceeding. Rather, it was an attempt by the Court to caution Stowe regarding the perils of self-representation in a proceeding in which his liberty was in the balance.

Although the Court was perhaps too focused on assisting Stowe in understanding the substance

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As explained in the Argument section, there are two kinds of bias claims: subjective and objective. Mr. Stowe does not appeal the court's ruling that it was not subjectively biased.

and procedures associated with the Petition, or with the potential dangers of self-representation, based upon the analysis provided above, Stowe has not established any basis for concluding that the Court demonstrated any pre-judgment regarding Stowe's then pending Petition.

R.510:5-6; App.118-119.

Mr. Stowe appeals.

### ARGUMENT

- I. The circuit court's comments would cause objective. reasonable observer believe the that court prejudged Mr. Stowe's petition for conditional release.
  - A. Legal standard and standard of review.

A defendant has a due process right to an impartial tribunal. *Goodson*, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶8.6 There are two tests for bias: subjective and objective. *Id.* Subjective bias can only be determined by the judge. If the judge rules that they were impartial—as occurred in Mr. Stowe's case—the inquiry ends there. *Miller v. Carroll*, 2020 WI 56, ¶21, 392 Wis. 2d 49, 944 N.W.2d 542.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Although termed a "commitment," the NGI statutory scheme is under the Criminal Code and individuals are deemed "defendants." *See, e.g.*, Wis. Stat. § 971.17(1).

Filed 08-25-2021

Objective bias is shown where the appearance of bias results in a great risk of actual bias. Id, ¶41. There is an appearance of bias "when a reasonable person could question the court's impartiality based on the court's statements." Goodson, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶9. It is presumed that a judge has acted impartially, yet this presumption is rebuttable under a preponderance standard. Miller, 392 Wis. 2d 49, ¶¶16, 21. Successful bias claims have been deemed "rare"; however, they are heavily fact dependent. See id., ¶24. Bias is structural error and is not subject to the harmless error doctrine. *Id.*, ¶15.

One way that an individual can show objective bias is by demonstrating that a reasonable observer would interpret a court's comments to mean that it prejudged an outcome. State v. Gudgeon, 2006 WI App 143, ¶11, 295 Wis. 2d 189, 720 N.W.2d 114; Goodson, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶10; see also, Franklin v. McCaughtry, 398 F.3d 955, 962 (7th Cir. 2005) (if a judge "has prejudged the facts or the outcome of the dispute," the judge "cannot render a decision that comports with due process."). Although prejudgment is a subset of bias, a prejudgment claim differs from bias claims that deal with untoward conduct. For example, *Miller* dealt with the judge's inappropriate friendship with a litigant on a social media platform. Miller, 392 Wis. 2d 49, ¶ 25. Prejudgment claims do not require proof of untoward conduct. They simply require a showing that a reasonable observer would conclude that the court did not reserve judgment until after the hearing.

Whether a defendant was denied the right to an impartial judge is a question of law, reviewed independently by this Court. *Miller*, 392 Wis. 2d 49, ¶15. Where the defendant shows that the court was biased, the remedy is a new proceeding before a different judge. *See Goodson*, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶18.

B. Viewed objectively, the court's comments show that it prejudged Mr. Stowe's conditional release petition.

The circuit court's remarks at Mr. Stowe's conditional release hearing indicated prejudgment. Prejudgment is shown where the court's statements would cause a reasonable person observing the proceeding to conclude "that the judge had made up his mind" before the hearing. Goodson, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶10. The primary prejudgment cases in Wisconsin are Gudgeon and Goodson. In Gudgeon, 295 Wis. 2d 189, ¶26, the defendant's probation agent proposed converting unpaid obligations to a civil judgment but the court instead stated that it wanted to extend the defendant's probation. These comments were made before the extension hearing occurred. In Goodson, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶12, the court stated at the sentencing hearing that if the defendant was revoked from supervision it would impose the maximum. In both cases, this Court found objective bias and reversed. Id., ¶10; Gudgeon, 295 Wis. 2d 189, ¶26.

A recent unpublished but persuasive decision of this Court is closer on the facts to Mr. Stowe's case. *State v. Stingle*, No. 2019AP491, unpublished slip op.

Filed 08-25-2021

(July 28, 2020). In Stingle, the circuit court made remarks during the trial, before the defendant put on his case, indicating that it believed the defendant was guilty. The courts comments also suggested that the court "thought Stingle was being unreasonable by forcing the parties to go through a trial." Id., ¶41; App.146. This Court found objective bias and remanded for a new trial before a different judge. Id., ¶45; App.148.

The same result is warranted here where the court's remarks showed that it already believed Mr. Stowe should not be released and encouraged Mr. Stowe to withdraw his petition rather than proceed to the hearing. At the outset of Mr. Stowe's conditional release hearing, before any evidence was introduced, the court spoke at length about the examiner's report<sup>7</sup> and repeatedly stated that it did not believe Mr. Stowe was ready to be released. The court told Mr. Stowe that it believed he had made "good progress" with his treatment but had not "had enough time to really get the full benefit of that, or to at least be able to convey that benefit." R.543:6; App.8. The court acknowledged that there would be additional testimony if the hearing proceeded but the "gist of it is you've made some progress, but, you know, it's a little early to be able to see what that's going to do for you." R.543:7; App.9. Yet whether or not Mr. Stowe had made progress sufficient to warrant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Examiner reports are not evidence unless and until they are received into evidence. D.J.W., 2020 WI 4, 391 Wis. 2d 231, ¶6 n.4.

release could only be fairly determined after the evidence was introduced, not before.

The court encouraged Mr. Stowe to withdraw the petition. The court offered that "time . . . might be beneficial for you." R.543:7; App.9. The court stated, "you always have an opportunity to come back for review." R.543:15; App.17. While acknowledging that "you're an adult and you can make that decisions," the court offered that Mr. Stowe should consider not going forward and instead "come back for review" at a later time. R.543.15; App.17.

The court also made statements prematurely discounting Mr. Stowe's pro se representation as selfserving and not credible. Mr. Stowe asked to represent himself, which the court ultimately allowed. However, the court repeatedly urged him not to do so, saying that a lawyer would be more credible and "accurate." R.543:5, 14; App.7, 16. While it is entirely proper—and indeed required—that a court advise a defendant difficulties and disadvantages of selfrepresentation,8 the court ventured into prejudgment by directly stating it would find Mr. Stowe's presentation self-serving and inaccurate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Under State v. Klessig, 211 Wis. 2d 194, 206, 564 N.W.2d 716 (1997), the circuit court must conduct a colloquy designed to ensure that the defendant: (1) made a deliberate choice to proceed without counsel, (2) was aware of the difficulties and disadvantages of self-representation, (3) was aware of the seriousness of the charge or charges against him, and (4) was aware of the general range of penalties that could have been imposed on him.

The court further noted that Mr. Stowe had returned to his Catholic faith and indicated that it would view Mr. Stowe's personal account of his spirituality as self-serving. The court suggested that incarcerated persons will sometimes claim to have had a spiritual awakening but "it's pretty short-lived for them." R:543:11; App.13. The court said it would need to have a way to "quantify" Mr. Stowe's religion and suggested that, "a priest or some other person" could "comment on any observations" to satisfy the court of Mr. Stowe's sincerity. R.543:13; App.15. In its closing remarks, the court was even more direct, stating that Mr. Stowe would "need" to find someone to describe his "progress in that setting . . . in a tangible wav." R.544:40; App.104. In Wisconsin, a person's private communication to a member of the clergy is privileged. Wis. Stat. § 905.06. In effect the court asked Mr. Stowe to waive privilege in order to satisfy the court that he should be released.

The court's closing remarks reinforced the appearance of prejudgment. The court emphasized the remarks it made at the "outset" of the hearing and said it "stands by those." R.544:28; App.92. It asserted "there remains clear and convincing evidence" supporting denial of the petition. R.544:38; App.102. These statements convey to an objective, reasonable listener that the court went into the hearing with a view to deny the petition and at the end was satisfied that nothing had disturbed the view it had already formed. This inverts the legal presumption. Under Wis. Stat. § 971.17(4)(d), the court "shall grant the petition" unless the State meets it burden to prove by

clear and convincing evidence that the person poses a significant risk of harm to self, others, or property if conditionally released.

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