Filed 10-22-2021

Page 1 of 24

FILED 10-22-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS

## DISTRICT III

### Case No. 2021AP0431-CR

### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GRAHAM L. STOWE,

Defendant-Appellant.

## ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING CONDITIONAL RELEASE AND ORDER DENYING POSTDISPOSITION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE BROWN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE KENDALL M. KELLEY, PRESIDING

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JENNIFER L. VANDERMEUSE Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1070979

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

## Stowe failed to rebut the presumption that the judge acted impartially at his conditional release hearing.

The presumption of judicial impartiality is hard to rebut. Objective bias is most often found under extreme facts, or instances where the court states that it has made up its mind or desires a specific outcome prior to testimony. Stowe fails to meet that standard here. The judge's comments at the beginning of the hearing, fairly read in the context of the entire proceeding, do not rise to the level of a constitutional violation. Stowe's arguments to the contrary either misinterpret the judge's statements or misapply the law. This Court should affirm the circuit court.

A. A finding of objective bias is confined to rare and extreme instances, such as when a court makes statements that clearly express prejudgment or a desired outcome.

It is axiomatic that "[a] fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process." *Caperton v. A.T. Massey Coal Co., Inc.,* 556 U.S. 868, 876 (2009) (citation omitted). However, "most matters relating to judicial disqualification [do] not rise to a constitutional level." *Id.* (citation omitted).

Wisconsin courts presume that "a judge has acted fairly, impartially, and without bias." B.J.M., 392 Wis. 2d 49, ¶ 21. A party asserting bias may rebut this presumption by a preponderance of the evidence. *Id.* When the appearance of bias reveals a great risk of actual bias, the presumption of impartiality is rebutted, and a due process violation occurs. *Herrmann*, 364 Wis. 2d 336, ¶ 46.

Courts recognize two types of judicial bias: subjective and objective. *B.J.M.*, 392 Wis. 2d 49,  $\P$  21. Subjective bias is based on the judge's own determination that he or she cannot act impartially. *Id.* Objective bias occurs when there is a "serious risk of actual bias—based on objective and reasonable perceptions." *Id.*  $\P$  22 (quoting *Caperton*, 556 U.S. at 884).

Here, the judge concluded he was not subjectively biased, (R. 510:8–9), and Stowe does not challenge that determination on appeal (Stowe Br. 12 n.5). Subjective bias is therefore not at issue.

To assess objective bias, a reviewing court applies the standard from *Caperton*. *B.J.M.*, 392 Wis. 2d 49, ¶ 24. "Due process requires an objective inquiry" into whether the circumstances "would offer a possible temptation to the average ... judge to ... lead him not to hold the balance nice,

clear and true." *Id.* (citation omitted). "It is the exceptional case with 'extreme facts' which rises to the level of a 'serious risk of actual bias." *Id.* (citation omitted.) "Application of the constitutional standard ... will thus be confined to rare instances." *Id.* ¶ 52 (citation omitted.)

Case law provides guidance as to when "extreme facts" rise to the level of a due process violation. In *Caperton*, the petitioner's due process rights were violated when a state supreme court justice refused to recuse himself after receiving large campaign contributions from the respondent corporation's chief executive officer. Caperton, 556 U.S. at 884-87. And in B.J.M., a circuit court judge accepted a Facebook friend request from the mother in a custody dispute after a contested hearing, but before rendering a decision. B.J.M., 392 Wis. 2d 49,  $\P$  2. A majority of the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that the totality of circumstances and extreme facts of the case, viewed objectively, rose to level of serious risk of actual bias. Id. ¶¶ 35, 38, 65.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has yet to precisely define the standard for objective judicial bias after *Caperton*.<sup>7</sup> Regardless of how one articulates the precise standard, pre-*Caperton* case law is instructive, given the nature of the bias allegation here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In State v. Herrmann, the lead opinion used the phrase "appearance of bias." 2015 WI 84, ¶ 40, 364 Wis. 2d 336, 867 N.W.2d 772. Four of the court's members in two separate concurrences took issue with the "appearance of bias" standard. Id. ¶ 108 (Prosser, J., concurring); Id. ¶¶ 114, 157–59 (Ziegler, J., concurring). In re Paternity of B.J.M., 2020 Wis. 56, ¶ 25 n.18, 392 Wis. 2d 49, 944 N.W.2d 542, a four-member majority generally agreed with the standards regarding objective bias, but one of those justices advocated for the "appearance of bias" framework that was articulated in the lead opinion in Herrmann. In re B.J.M., 392 Wis. 2d 49, ¶ 38–63 (Bradley, J., concurring); Id. ¶ 96 (Ziegler, J., concurring). Three justices in dissent rejected the "appearance of bias" framework. Id. ¶ 114 (Hagedorn, J., dissenting).

Statements that clearly express prejudgment or a clear desired outcome can rise to the level of a due process violation. For example, Gudgeon concerned a probation extension decision for a criminal defendant. The judge stated in a note to the parties, "I want his probation extended." 295 Wis. 2d 189, ¶ 26. This statement signified the judge's personal desire for a particular outcome, such that a reasonable person would discern a great risk that the court "had already made up its mind to extend probation long before the extension hearing took place." Id. Similarly, in Goodson, the circuit court promised to sentence Goodson to the maximum period of time if he violated his supervision rules. *Goodson*, 320 Wis. 2d 166,  $\P$  13. This Court ruled that a reasonable person would conclude that a judge would intend to keep such a promise that the judge had made up his mind about Goodson's sentence before the reconfinement hearing. Id. This constituted objective bias. Id.

In several other cases, this Court found a judge's clear statements of a desired outcome evidence of prejudgment. In State v. Lamb, a case concerning a sentencing decision, the defendant's lawyer and the State recommended probation. Despite that recommendation, the court told the defendant, prior to hearing arguments on sentencing, that the defendant "was going to prison today." State v. Lamb, 2018 WI App 66, ¶ 6, 384 Wis. 2d 414, 921 N.W.2d 522 (unpublished, cited for persuasive value). This Court held that court's comments revealed a serious risk of actual bias because a reasonable lay observer would interpret them as prejudging Lamb's sentence. Id. ¶ 14. And in State v. Marcotte, the judge told the defendant that he would be sentenced to prison if he did not succeed in drug court. State v. Marcotte, 2020 WI App 28, ¶ 19, 392 Wis. 2d 183, 943 N.W.2d 911. This statement and another factor created the appearance of bias sufficient to give rise to a great risk of actual bias. *Id.* ¶ 18.

On the other hand, when a court's pre-hearing comments show a reflection on the law and facts of the case, but do not show that the court had made up its mind, that does not rise to the level of objective bias. In *In re Z.B.*, a termination of parental rights case, the county department contended the circuit court improperly weighed statutory factors before the dispositional hearing. *In re Z.B.*, 2018 WI App 35, ¶ 22, 382 Wis. 2d 272, 915 N.W.2d 731 (unpublished, cited for persuasive value). The county argued that the court's statement that it had been weighing the factors meant that it had "resolved" the factors before the dispositional hearing. *Id.* ¶ 23.

This Court rejected that argument.  $Id. \P 28$ . The circuit court's comment did not show that it had made up its mind prior to the dispositional hearing. Id. That the circuit court may have been aware of the statutory factors prior to the actual dispositional hearing does not violate due process because the circuit court did not indicate a decision was already made. Id. Further, the court's decision at the conclusion of the dispositional hearing showed that the case was not prejudged. Id. The circuit court weighed the statutory factors and other applicable factors based on evidence in the record. Id.

## B. Stowe has failed to rebut the presumption of impartiality.

Applying these principles here, Stowe has not met the high bar necessary to overcome the presumption of impartiality. The court's comments do not show that a reasonable person would discern a great risk prejudgment as in *Goodson, Gudgeon, Lamb*, or *Maricotte*, nor is this one of the exceptional cases with extreme facts that rises to the level of a serious risk of actual bias, as in *Caperton* or *B.J.M.* 

The court's pre-testimony comments were in response to Stowe's initial request for counsel. They aimed to ensure Stowe understood the benefits of representation, and were intended to help Stowe, as a pro se litigant, understand the process at the conditional release hearing and topics that the judge would like to see developed, including his options for therapy and his professed return to faith, which he put at issue. (R. 543:8, 10–14; see also Statement of the Case.) True, the court acknowledged that it had read Dr. Schmitt's report. But it would be highly unusual for the Court not to have reviewed the information provided by the Court appointed evaluator. The fact the Court shared some of its thoughts - in the context of discussing the procedural aspects of the case – does not demonstrate objective bias in the form of prejudgment. Indeed, courts routinely inform the parties of their initial thoughts at a hearing and ask them to address specific topics before issuing oral decisions. The court's comments here are no more than that.

Further, like the judge in *In re Z.B.*, the circuit court properly weighed the statutory factors based on the evidence the parties presented when it reached its decision.<sup>8</sup> (R. 544:28–42; *see also* Statement of the Case.) Stowe has not rebutted the presumption of impartiality.

Stowe's arguments to the contrary are without merit. Stowe cites *Stingle*, an unpublished case pertaining to Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources wetland removal. That case is distinguishable. The issue there was whether Stingle violated a statute by discharging fill material into a wetland without a permit. *State v. Stingle*, 2020 WI App 55, ¶ 1, 948 N.W.2d 494 (unpublished). The court's comments during the State's presentation of evidence implied that the

 $<sup>^8</sup>$  Stowe is not challenging whether the court's decision was a proper application of the evidence to Wis. Stat. § 971.17(4)(d). (See generally Stowe Br.)

areas in question qualified as wetlands (a key issue in the case), that Stingle should have already removed the fill from them, and that his refusal to do so was simply because he was "stubborn" and "set on the position" that he did not need to remove the fill. *Id.* ¶ 39. This Court decided that, based on those comments, a reasonable person would conclude the judge had made up his mind—before Stingle even had an opportunity to present his case. *Id.* ¶ 42, 45.

Unlike *Stingle*, the court's comments at Stowe's hearing did not imply that it had made up its mind. In fact, the judge's comments show the opposite. The court told Stowe that there was a *possibility* that waiting for counsel and undergoing treatment for longer would work to his advantage. (R. 543:6.) The judge did not say that Stowe's petition would be denied if Stowe opted to go forward pro se.

Stowe argues that the court "encouraged" him "to withdraw his petition rather than proceed to the hearing." (Stowe Br. 16.) Stowe misunderstands the judge's comments. The court encouraged Stowe to wait to proceed with the hearing until he could secure counsel. The judge said that Stowe could wait to have counsel "on this same petition." (R. 543:6.) At no point did the judge tell Stowe to "withdraw" his petition. But even if one could construe the record that way, giving Stowe the option to wait for counsel would not lead a reasonable person to conclude that the judge made up his mind as to the outcome. Stowe was the one who requested counsel, and the judge was responding to that request. The court also made clear that Stowe could decide to go forward without representation, and return "promptly" for a second day of testimony. (R. 543:15.) Stowe chose the latter.

Stowe also argues that the court "repeatedly stated that it did not believe Mr. Stowe was ready to be released." (Stowe Br. 16.) This argument is belied by the record. The court did make comments that waiting "to get the full benefit" of treatment might be beneficial for him. (R. 543:6.) But saying that additional time for treatment would possibly work to his advantage, or even that time "would definitely be on your side," (R. 543:6), is not the same as saying that the court made up its mind that Stowe's conditional release petition should not be granted.

As Stowe acknowledged, the court said that witnesses still needed to testify. (Stowe Br. 16); (R. 543:7.) Further, the court said it could not deny Stowe's petition unless there was a legal basis to do so. (R. 543:15–16.) Comparing these comments to those made in *Goodson* (promising to sentence Goodson to the maximum period of time if he violated his supervision rules), *Gudgeon* (stating, "I want his probation extended"), *Lamb* (stating that the defendant "was going to prison today"), or *Maricott* (telling the defendant that he would be sentenced to prison if he did not succeed in drug court), the court's comments here do not rise to the level of a due process violation. They would not lead a reasonable observer to conclude that there was a high risk of actual bias.

Stowe also argues that the court prejudged the outcome by stating "that there would be additional testimony if the hearing proceeded but the 'gist of it is you've made some progress, but, you know, it's a little early to be able to see what that's going to do for you." (Stowe Br. 16.) While Stowe seems to suggest that the *court* said this, what the court actually did was paraphrase Dr. Schmitt's report:

I've read Dr. Schmitt's report. It's just a report. He'd have to testify and presume it would be consistent with that and so forth.

But sort of the gist of it is you've made some progress, but, you know, it's a little early to be able to see what that's going to do for you.

(R. 543:7.) The court's comment does not show that it had predetermined whether to credit Dr. Schmitt's report.

Stowe also argues that the court discounted Stowe's pro se representation as "self-serving and not credible." (Stowe Br. 17.) This too is belied by the record. Stowe incorrectly interprets the Court's commentary about self-representation as evidence of impartiality or pre-judgement. Stowe gives short shrift to the importance of discussing the defendant's right to counsel and the disadvantages of proceeding without counsel. Conducting a meaningful colloquy regarding selfrepresentation is not objective partiality.<sup>9</sup>

Stowe contends that the judge found his statements about his return to the Catholic faith as "self-serving," and by asking for Stowe to have a witness testify as to his religious experience, he was effectively asking Stowe to waive privilege with private communications with clergy members. (Stowe Br. 18.) Stowe misunderstands the court's comments and fails to persuasively explain how this argument is relevant.

The court noted that the letter Stowe read to the court, which described his return to the Catholic faith, "reflected a very genuine change for you." (R. 544:39–40.) But the court said that that was not enough to determine how Stowe's return to faith affected his risk, which is a factor the court must consider on conditional release. (R. 544:40.) While acknowledging the sensitive issues surrounding religious professions (and its desire not to intrude on those issues), the court suggested that it might be helpful if a religious figure could comment on some of the changes he or she observed in Stowe, as a way to quantify the benefit in light of the criteria for conditional release. (R. 543:10–13.) In that vein, the court stated, "[t]o the extent that you would be able to identify how

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Stowe acknowledges that under *State v. Klessig*, the circuit court must conduct a colloquy to ensure (among other things) that the defendant makes a deliberate choice to proceed without counsel, and that the defendant is aware of the difficulties and disadvantages of self-representation. *See State v. Klessig*, 211 Wis. 2d 194, 206, 564 N.W.2d 716 (1997); (*see also* Stowe Br. 17 n.8).

that affects your risk in a tangible way would be helpful." (R. 544:40.) The judge did not mandate that Stowe have a religious figure testify, and it certainly was not asking Stowe to waive privilege. But because Stowe put forth his faith as probative of his fitness for release, the court was attempting to guide him on how to connect this with the statutory criteria for release. (R. 544:40.) These comments do not show prejudgment or objective bias.

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